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··------
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Architectural Classification 
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Italianate 

Romanesque Revival 

Renaissance Revival 

Colonial Revival 

Classical Revival 

Narrative Description 

Baltimore City, Maryland 
County and State 
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Contributing 
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The Berea/Biddle Street Historic District comprises 36 blocks in the eastern section of 
Baltimore City, Maryland. It is a mainly residential two-story rowhouse community with about 
half of the houses built between c. 1890 and c. 1925 and the other half built both during and 
immediately after World War II. The neighborhood centers on St. Katherine of Sienna Roman 
Catholic Church and School, first built 1902-6 and later expanded. Along the western edge of 
the historic district there are several rows of late Italianate-style houses and some distinguished 
rows of Renaissance Revival-style swell-front and flat-fronted "marble" houses, some with 
original storefronts intact. Many rows of brown brick porch-front Daylight-style houses built 
between about 1914 and 1925 fill the center of the historic district. Beginning in the late 1930s 
and continuing through 1946, rows of Early American, or Colonial Revival-style, red brick rows 
with suburban-style front lawns were built in the eastern section of the historic district. 

General Description: 

In order to most clearly describe the building units in the historic district, they are 
grouped by their Baltimore City Block numbers (see attached block map, with photographed 
resources indicated). Block descriptions begin with the northernmost and westernmost block in 
the historic district-along the north and south sides of the 2500 block of Federal Street (running 
south to Oliver Street) and the east side of the 1500 block ofN. Rose Street-then move east 
along Federal Street to the eastern boundary of the district at Edison Highway (Blocks 1486-
1492). Then I describe the next row of city blocks to the south-moving east from the 1400 
block of N. Rose Street, south of Oliver Street, to the eastern boundary at Edison Hi hwa 

n mues nex wit t e ocks south of Hoffman Street, 
east ofN. Rose to Edison Highway (Blocks 1521-1527); the blocks south ofE. Preston Street 
and east ofN. Rose to Edison Highway (Blocks 1538-1544); the blocks south ofE. Biddle Street 
and east ofN. Rose Street to N. Linwood Street (Blocks 1556-1559); and finally, the blocks 
south of E. Chase Street and east of N. Rose Street to N. Linwood Street (Blocks 1573-1576). 

I. Blocks E of N. Rose Street along both sides of Federal Street 

Block 1486 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south of Federal and 
north of Oliver Street. The north side of Federal Street between N. Rose and Luzerne is also 
included in this block description. 
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Most of the brick two-story rowhouses in this block were built in the Neoclassical, or 
Renaissance Revival style between 1893 and 1908. The row of twelve houses on the north side 
of Federal Street (2504-26 Federal Street), built by Abraham Neifeld in 1908, have marble 
basements and steps and plain sheet metal cornices framed by modest end brackets. The row has 
a pattern of wide round-arched first floor windows alternating with first floor windows with wide 
segmental arches. Originally the sash beneath the transoms were paired. Door and second floor 
window openings have segmentally-arched lintels. A few of the houses have been covered with 
formstone. The six houses on the south side of Federal Street, east ofN. Rose, at 2507-17 
Federal, also built by Neifeld, are identical in design to those on the north side of the street. Six 
houses also built by Neifeld in 1908 survive on the east side of N. Rose Street, just south of 
Federal, at 1505-15 N. Rose. They have similar plain sheet metal cornices, but in this row 
marble is used only for the steps and a basement stringer. All of the wide first floor windows 
have segmentally-arched lintels. 

At the southern end of the block there is a group of earlier houses at 2516-3 8 Oliver 
Street built in 1893 by William H. Perot, the first landowner/developer in this neighborhood. 
This row retains Queen Anne influences in the molded brick bands extending across the facades 
at the level of the first and second floor window sills. The sheet metal cornices are more 
decorative, with both end and center brackets connecting to a wide lower molding strip and 
capped by a large ball finial. In this row houses with paired first floor sash set beneath wide, 
segmentally-arched lintels and transoms alternate with houses with two narrow first floor 
windows. No marble is used on the facades. 

The west side ofN. Luzerne Street in this block (1500-18 N. Luzerne) was developed 
later with red brick Daylight-style porch-front houses with short front lawns. All of the orches 

n co umns support t e at porch roofs. Each house has a stylish 
tiled decorative shed roof, set between taller brick parapets. This row was built in 1928 by 
James C. Byrne. 

Block 1487 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of Federal and 
north of Oliver Street. The north side of Federal Street between N. Luzerne and N. Lakewood 
A venue is also included in this block description. 

The oldest houses in the block are on the north side of Oliver Street, at 2600-44 Oliver­
a long row of red brick Neoclassical-style houses built in 1903 by William H. Perot. The houses 
have wide, round-arched first floor windows with paired sash and marble sills. There is also a 
marble stringer at the basement level and marble steps. The sheet metal cornices are supported 
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by three long brackets, which connect to a lower molding strip and frame pierced ventilator 
panels. Many of the houses have been covered with formstone. Around the comer on the east 
side ofN. Luzerne, just north of Oliver, a pair (1501-3 N. Luzerne Street) of three-bay-wide 
houses with brown, Roman brick facades, marble lintels and sills, marble stringers and steps, and 
dentilled sheet metal cornices were built in 1906 by Adolphus Perot. The houses at 1505-23 N. 
Luzerne Street match those on the west side of the 1500 block ofN. Luzerne Street, with their 
red brick facades, stone porches, and tiled shed roofs. They were also built by James C. Byrne in 
1928. 

The last group of houses built, along the north side of Federal Street, at 2612-40 Federal, 
by the Edison Realty Co. in 1946, are in the Early American, or Colonial Revival style. They are 
built of red brick with short shingled roofs imitating the look of a gable roof, paired front porches 
set on concrete pads, and terraced front lawns. End units have decorative end gables and the 
center house in the row has a porch with a triangular pediment. There is a single window above 
the door (and porch) on the second floor; the other bay has paired windows on both first and 
second floors. Each doorway is framed by two wooden engaged columns and every pair of 
houses is marked by a brick parapet wall that extends above the roofline. 

On the northeast comer of Federal and N. Luzerne there is a two-story, two-bay wide and 
seven-bay deep house with an attached one-story double garage extending along Federal Street. 
The walls are decorative concrete blocks and there is a corner entrance. The two-story portion 
has a flat roof with sheet metal cornice and the garage structure has a flat roof marked by 
parapets. This former commercial structure has been turned into a residence. 

Block 1488 

This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of Federal 
and north of Oliver Street and was not developed until 1926. The north side of Federal Street 
between Lakewood and Kenwood A venues is also included in this block description. 

As in Block 1487, the oldest houses in this block are those along the north side of Oliver 
Street, at 2700-18 Oliver, built c. 1926 by the heirs of Peter Grogan. These brown brick, 
Neoclassical-style porch-front homes have sheet metal cornices decorated with a row of 
modillions and framed by end brackets, flat porch roofs supported by fluted wooden columns, 
flat marble lintels and sills and marble steps, and wide first floor windows. Both the door and 
first-floor window have narrow stained glass transoms. 
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The Edison Realty Co built all of the other houses in the block much later in a red brick 
Colonial Revival style in 1946. The groups along both the north and south sides of Federal 
Street, at 2700-28 and 2701-23 Federal, and the row at 1500-34 N. Kenwood Avenue, matches 
the row along the north side of the 2600 block of Federal Street. The red brick houses along the 
east side ofN. Lakewood Avenue, at 1501-9 N. Lakewood have slightly different rooflines, but 
similar fenestration patterns. Here there is no parapet wall above the roofline of each pair of 
houses; rather, because the street slopes upward, each pair sits slightly higher than the pair to the 
north. Similar houses were built at 2720-26 Oliver. 

Block 1489 

This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Avenue, south of Federal and 
north of Oliver Street and includes the mid-block street Kenhill. The block remained 
undeveloped until just after World War II. The north side of Federal Street between Kenwood 
and Linwood Avenues and is also included in this block description. 

The houses on both the north and south sides of Federal Street, at 2800-28 and 2830-58 
Federal Street and 2801-21 and 2823-43 Federal Street, built in 1946 by Edison Realty Co., 
match those in the 2600 and 2700 blocks of Federal Street, with their brick parapet walls 
extending above the roofline of each pair of houses. End houses have their gable end to the 
street. The row at 1501-21 N. Kenwood Avenue, also built by Edison, matches the row on the 
west side of Kenwood in Block 1488. 

The rows of houses on both sides of the 1500 block of Kenhill (1500-16 and 1501-17 
Kenhill) and the group on the west side of Linwood A venue (at 1500-16 N. Linwood), all built in 
1947 by Kenhill Construction Co. are more stylish-each end house has its end gable to the 
street, the shingled shed-roofed porches are deeper with clapboard sides, and there are deeper 
front yards than on the houses on the side streets in the block to the west. 

Block 1490 

This block runs east ofN. Linwood Avenue to N. Potomac Street, south of Federal and 
north of Oliver Street. The north side of Federal Street between Linwood and Potomac is also 
included in this block description. The houses on the north and south side of Federal Street (at 
2900-20 and 2901-21 Federal) were built by Edison Realty in 1947 and resemble the 2600-2800 
blocks of Federal Street. 
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A non-contributing modem church building occupies the northwest comer of Oliver and 
N. Potomac Street. 

Block 1491 

This block runs east of N. Potomac Street to Ellwood Street, south of Federal and north 
of Oliver Street and includes the mid-block street Decker. The north side of Federal Street 
between Potomac and Ellwood is also included in this block description. Henry J. Knott built all 
of the houses in this block in 1946 in the same style. The red brick houses are quite plain, with 
short, false shed roofs designed to give the impression of a full gable roof. The doorways have 
simple "colonial" door frames; there are paired, concrete-floored, shed-roofed front porches 
supported by plain posts; and paired first and second floor windows, except on the end houses 
which have two single second floor sashes. Each house has a front lawn. Houses of this style can 
be found at 3000-22 and 3024-48 and 3101-19 and 3021-37 Federal Street, 1501-17 N. Potomac 
Street, 1500-16 and 1501-17 N. Decker Street, and 1500-16 N. Ellwood Street. 

Block 1492 

This block runs east ofN. Ellwood Street to Edison Highway, south of Federal and north 
of Oliver Street. The north side of Federal Street between Ellwood and Edison is also included 
in this block description. All of the houses in this block were built in 1946 by Henry J. Knott and 
are identical to the houses built by Knott in Block 1491. Houses of this style can be found at 
3100-22 and 3101-7 Federal Street, 1501-17 N. Ellwood Street, and 1500-28 Edison Highway. 

II. Blocks E of N. Rose Street south of Oliver Street and north of Hoffman Street 

Block 1505 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south of Oliver Street to 
Hoffman Street. The houses were built between 1886 and 1904. Local landowner William Perot 
built the late Italianate-style row at 2521-39 Oliver Street in 1886 and a year later local 
brickmaker Daniel Donnelly erected late Italianate-style two-story, three-bay-wide houses on the 
west side of Luzerne Street, at 1400-20 N. Luzerne Street. The houses have wooden cornices 
supported by four long scroll-sawn brackets framing jig-sawn ventilator panels. The door and 
tall, narrow windows have segmentally-arched lintels and the houses have marble steps. 
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Donnelly also built the row of later two-story, two-bay-wide houses on the north side of 
Hoffman Street, at 2616-30 Hoffman. These houses have sheet metal cornices framed by end 
brackets and decorated with a row of <lentils. The paired first floor windows have a transom and 
flat marble lintels and sills. The houses also have marble steps and tall, paired basement 
windows. 

North of mid-block Llewelyn Street, Hiram J. Griffin built short rows of houses at 1422-
28 N. Luzerne Street and 1413-21 N. Rose Street in 1904. Those on N. Luzerne have plain sheet 
metal cornices framed by end brackets with ball finials; paired first floor windows with a wide, 
molded center strip; and marble steps. Windows have segmentally-arched lintels and marble 
sills. 

Block 1506 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of Oliver Street 
and north of Hoffman Street and is bisected by the mid-block street Llewelyn. William H. Perot 
and Hiram Griffin built the earliest houses in the block in 1902 at 1423-41 N. Luzerne Street and 
2601-25 Oliver Street. The brown Roman brick marble-style houses have marble steps and 
basements, window lintels and sills, and a marble band that extends across each fa9ade at the 
level of the first floor door and window lintels. Two tall, narrow windows light the first floor 
and there are two windows on the second floor. Beneath the plain sheet metal cornice, framed 
by short end brackets, there is a deep row of late Queen Anne-style stepped-brick decorations. 

August Wehr and Abraham Neifeld built the long row on the north side of Hoffman 
Street, at 2600-46 Hoffman, in 1907. The red brick houses have marble basem 

r wm ow s1 s. e s eet metal cornices are framed by end brackets, which once 
connected to a lower molding strip. Every other house has a wide first floor window and door 
with a round-arched lintel. The alternating houses have wide first floor windows with 
segmentally-arched lintels. Originally the first floor windows were paired, but many of these 
have been replaced. Wehr and Neifeld also built four similar houses on the west side of 
Lakewood, north of Hoffman, at 1400-6 N. Lakewood, and on the east side of Luzerne, at 1401-
7 N. Luzerne. But in these rows all of the windows have segmentally-arched lintels. They also 
built the long row of houses on the south side of Llewelyn Street (2601 -29), which are plainer, 
smaller versions of those on the main streets. Also built in red brick with similar sheet metal 
cornices, they have regularly-sized first floor windows with segmentally-arched lintels. No 
marble is used on the facades. 
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John Maier built houses on the north side of Llewelyn Street (2600-26) later, in ·1912. 
They are built in brown Roman brick, have sheet metal cornices with narrow end and center 
brackets that connect to a lower molding strip, and wider first floor windows with segmentally­
arched lintels. The houses have marble steps. Maier also built the row of four houses at 1408-14 
N. Lakewood in 1911. Facing a side street they are more elaborate than those built on Llewelyn 
Street. Although the sheet metal cornices are the same, these brown Roman brick houses are true 
"marble houses," with marble basements and steps, marble lintels and sills, and wide first floor 
windows and deep stained glass transoms. 

Block 1507 

This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of Oliver 
Street and north of Hoffman Street. A large, distinguished Colonial-Revival-style red brick 
school building on the southeast corner of Oliver and N. Lakewood Avenue was built c. 1900. 
It is three stories tall on a high basement. The main fa9ade on Oliver Street is nine bays wide 
with a center entrance bay. The tall double-hung windows with 616 sash have stone lintels and 
sills; the lintels have keystones and projecting ends. The tall double entrance door has a stone 
triangular pediment. The two windows above the entryway have wide stone frames and 
bracketed sills. A large carved stone cartouche with extended swags is set within a cross-shaped 
stone panel. This portion of the building is only one room deep and has a gable roof and deep 
sheet metal cornice. The side walls project above the roofline, capped with a central parapet. 
Each corner of this part of the building has wide stone quoins and a cartouche like the one on the 
third story of the fa9ade marks each gable end. The south end of the building, just north of 
Llewelyn Street, is the same and the two ends frame an eleven-bay-wide slightly recessed main 
building. All windows on these side elevations have keystoned lintels and stone sills. 

A later three-and-a-half-story red brick extension of the school, with similar gable roof, 
occupies the southern half of the block, facing Hoffman Street. The eastern half of the block is 
the site of the non-contributing modern Fort Worthington Elementary School, Recreation Center, 
and playgrounds. 

Block 1508 

This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Avenue, south of Oliver 
Street and north of Hoffman Street and includes the mid-block street Kenhill. Only the eastern 
half of the block has houses; the western portion is part of the site of the non-contributing Fort 
Worthington Elementary School. The Kenhill Construction Co. built the identical rows on the 
east side of Kenhill, at 1401-31 Kenhill Street and the west side of Linwood, at 1400-30 N. 
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Linwood Street in 1946. Unlike many of the other red brick Colonial rows in this part of the 
Historic District, these houses have true gable roofs. Each pair of houses shares a shed-roofed 
concrete porch set in the center of the pair over the entrance bays. The long row is punctuated by 
several units with their gable end to the street. There are paired first and second floor windows 
with a single window set above the door. The houses have terraced front lawns. 

Block 1509 

This block runs east ofN. Linwood Avenue to N. Potomac Street, south of Oliver Street 
and north of Hoffman. The Kenhill Construction Co. built the red brick, Colonial-style houses at 
1401-31 N. Linwood Street and 1400-30 N. Potomac Street in 1946. Unlike many of the other 
red brick Colonial rows in this part of the Historic District, these houses have true gable roof and 
each row is marked by units with end gables facing the street. The row on the east side of 
Linwood resembles that on the west side of Linwood, with paired front porches, but the houses 
on the west side of Potomac have their own individual shed-roofed porch. There are paired first 
floor windows. A paired second floor window sits above the paired first floor window while a 
smaller, single sash sits above the door. The houses have terraced front lawns. 

Block 1510 

This block runs east of N. Potomac Street to Ellwood Street, south of Oliver Street and 
north of Hoffman and includes the mid-block street Decker. The red brick Colonial-style houses 
at 1401-31 N. Potomac Street and 1400-30 and 1401-31 Decker Street were built in 1946 by 
Henry J. Knott and are identical to the houses Knott built the same year in Block 1491,just to the 
north. The row on the west side of Ellwood at 1400-30 N. Ellw · · · 

y t e 1tely Construction Co. and is much more stylish. Although this row has a short, 
false shed roof, the deep front porches are brick and alternate between having triangular 
pediments and paired shed roofs. While end houses are only two bays wide (with paired first 
floor windows), center units are three bays wide. All houses have front lawns 

Block 1511 

This block runs east of N. Ellwood Street to Edison Highway, south of Oliver Street and 
north of Hoffman. The Whitely Construction Co. built the rows at 1401-31 N. Ellwood Street 
and 1400-30 Edison Highway in 1941. These rows closely resemble the rows built by Whitely 
in Block 1510, but now most of the houses have one-bay-wide individual brick porches. Porch 
roofs with triangular pediments supported on plain posts alternate with shed roofs. End houses 
are two bays wide and center houses are three bays wide. 
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An older row of Neoclassical-style brown brick porch front houses can be found at 3100-
14 Hoffman Street. The houses are arranged in pairs with a deep cornice framed by brick 
parapets; window and door lintels are marble and the first floor windows are paired. Deep stone 
porches with flat roofs run the full width of the house. 

III. Blocks E of N. Rose Street south of Hoffman Street and north of E. Preston Street 

Block 1521 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south of Hoffman and 
north of E. Preston Street. Peter Grogan developed the block and the block to the east beginning 
soon after he bought the property in 1884. He first built a very stylish row of Renaissance­
Revival style swell-front brown brick houses at 1300-18 N. Luzerne Street, which match the row 
at 1301-19 N. Luzerne Street and the row at 1221-39 N. Luzerne Street, a block south. The end 
houses on the rows have corner turrets while two houses in the mid-center of the row have 
square projecting bays with second floor porches and pyramidal turrets. The houses have 
rusticated stone basements and rusticated stone bands running across the entire row at the level 
of the first and second floor window lintels and the second-floor window sills. The deep sheet 
metal cornice follows the pattern of the swell fronts. The square-fronted units have stick-style 
porches. Both first and second floor windows are tall and narrow. 

In 1905 Grogan built a much more modest row on the south side of Hoffman Street, at 
2517-27 Hoffman Street. These flat-fronted red brick houses have dentilled sheet metal 
cornices, a wide, paired first floor window with a fl 
wit segmentally-arched lintels. Grogan built similar houses on the east side of N. Rose Street, 
just south of this row, but they are now gone. Around 1910, after Grogan's death, his sons built 
out the west side ofN. Luzerne Street, at 1320-40 N. Luzerne with a row of traditional flat­
fronted "marble houses," constructed of brown, Roman brick, with marble basements, steps, and 
window lintels and sills. The houses have sheet metal cornices decorated with large modillions 
and framed by long end brackets, which connect to a lower molding strip. Grogan built two 
identical houses around the comer at 2529-31 Hoffman Street, adjoining his earlier row. 

Block 1522 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of Hoffman 
Street and north of E. Preston Street and includes the mid-block street Grogan Avenue. Peter 
Grogan developed the rest of the block beginning soon after he bought the property in 1884. He 
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first built in the late 1880s on the east side ofN. Luzerne Street, south of Hoffman, at 1321-39 N. 
Luzerne. This row of stylish two-bay-wide red brick houses with late Italianate-style wooden 
bracketed cornices show interesting molded brick decoration influenced by the Queen Anne 
style. The wide first floor windows have paired sash set beneath a paired transom. The center 
panel between the paired sash has applied turned ornament and the window and door tympanums 
have jig-sawn decorations. The segmentally-arched door and window lintels are composed of 
plain stretcher bricks capped by molded balls, alternating with decorated stretcher bricks. Each 
lintel has a sunflower keystone. A molded brick decorative band marks each fa9ade at the level 
of the second floor window sills. The wooden modillion cornice is supported by three long 
scroll-sawn brackets, which connect to a lower molding strip, framing jig-sawn ventilation 
panels. The north end house, 1339 N. Luzerne, is three bays wide and retains its original full 
width storefront. A deep cornice is supported by narrow scroll-sawn brackets, which frame jig­
sawn ventilator panels. The central door is boarded and the original storefront windows have 
been covered with concrete. 

In the early 1890s Grogan built a very stylish row of Renaissance-Revival style swell­
front brown brick houses at 1301-19 N. Luzerne Street, which match the row at 1300-18 N. 
Luzerne Street and the row at 1221-39 N. Luzerne Street, a block south. The end houses on the 
rows have comer turrets while two houses in the mid-center of the row have square projecting 
bays with second floor porches and pyramidal turrets. The houses have rusticated stone 
basements and rusticated stone bands running across the entire row at the level of the first and 
second floor window lintels and the second-floor window sills. The deep sheet metal cornice 
follows the pattern of the swell fronts. The square-fronted units have stick-style porches. Both 
first and second floor windows are tall and narrow. 

Grogan's sons bmlt the row of marble houses at 2600-24 E. Preston Street c. 1910, after 
their father's death. These houses have modillion sheet metal cornices like the row on the west 
side ofN. Luzerne, but this row has deep stained glass transoms over the first floor windows and 
doors. The Grogan estate then completed similar, but somewhat plainer "marble house"-style 
rows on both the north and south sides of Grogan Avenue (at 2600-26 and 2601-27 Grogan), the 
narrower street bisecting the block. Here the stained glass door and window transoms are much 
narrower and there is no marble basement, although there are still marble steps, and door and 
window lintels and sills. The modillion sheet metal cornice sits above a deep, plain frieze area, 
the whole framed by end brackets. The last row built by the Grogans on this block are the brown 
brick, marble house-style porch front houses on the south side of Hoffman Street, at 2601-23 
Hoffman. Except for the addition of the full-width front porches, these houses are identical to 
those built on Grogan Avenue. The brown Roman brick porches have fluted wooden columns 
supporting a flat porch roof. 
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In 1938 the Whitely Construction Co. built five red brick, Colonial-style houses on the 
eastern end of both the north and south sides of Grogan Avenue (only 2629-37 Grogan survives), 
on the north side of E. Preston (2626-34 E. Preston), and on the south side of Hoffman, (2625-33 
Hoffman). These later houses have short, false shed roofs; paired first and second-floor 
windows; and doorways framed by pilasters. End units have false, decorative end gables. 

Block 1523 

This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of Hoffman 
Street and north of E. Preston Street. It was not developed until the late 1930s. In 193 7 the 
Consolidated Construction Company built an unusual group of red brick houses on the north side 
of E. Preston, at 2700-18 E. Preston Street. These are the only houses in the Historic District 
influenced by the Tudor Revival style, first popularized in the late 1920s. Taller end units are 
built with their end gable to the street and have deep, shed-roofed front porches. The rest of the 
row is distinguished by the tall sloping shingled roof, marked by paired shed-roofed dormers, 
that extends down to the first floor level and forms the roof of the front porches. The houses just 
in from the end are marked by a turreted bay with conical roof, where the door is located; the 
center unit has a steep end gable punctuating the sloping roof; while two of the mid-row units 
have less steep and lower end gable piercing the roofline. End units have stone foundations 
which extend forward nearly to the sidewalk, framing the terraced front lawns. First floor 
windows are paired. 

Further east on E. Preston there is a later row of porch-front brown brick houses, at 2720-
40 E. Preston, built in 1940 by Isaac Rosenthal. As with the r · · · 

e is one istnct, these rows have short, false shed roofs. The full-width brick front porches 
have shed roofs supported by brick piers. The first floor windows are paired, but the second 
floors have two single sashes. The houses are set high on terraced front lawns, reached by a long 
row of stone steps. Rosenthal built an identical row in 1942 on the west side of N. Kenwood, at 
1300-28 N. Kenwood Avenue. 

Houses on the south side of Hoffman Street, at 2701-27 Hoffman, and the east side ofN. 
Lakewood Avenue, at 1301-13 N. Lakewood Avenue, were built in 1950 by Best Built 
Construction. The red brick rows have short, false gable roofs, paired first and second-floor 
windows, concrete porch pads with metal awnings, doorways framed by pilasters, and terraced 
front lawns. 
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This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Avenue, south of Hoffman 
Street and north of E. Preston Street and includes the mid-block street Kenhill. Ephraim Macht 
built all of the red brick, Colonial-style houses in this block in 1941-42. Macht's houses are 
different from others in the Historic District in that they have low-pitched hip roofs. The houses 
have stone foundations and individual shed-roofed porches supported by wooden posts. End 
houses have single windows on both first and second floors while the houses in the rest of the 
row have paired second floor windows set above a paired first floor window and a single second 
floor window set above the door. The Macht-built houses include 1301-29 N. Kenwood Avenue, 
1300-24 and 1301-25 Kenhill Street, 1300-30 N. Linwood Street, and 2820-40 Preston Street. 

Block 1525 

This block runs east ofN. Linwood Avenue to N. Potomac Street, south of Hoffman 
Street and north of E. Preston Street. Ephraim Macht built the red brick, Colonial-style houses at 
1301-29 N. Linwood Street in 1941, which are identical to the row on the west side of Linwood, 
at 1300-30. The two other red brick, Colonial-style rows, at 1300-30 N. Potomac Street and 
2934-42 E. Preston Street have false shed roofs, simple colonial-style door frames, and paired 
first floor windows with a paired window above on the second floor. Best Built Construction 
Co. built the rows in 1941. There is a single older three-story, two-bay-wide storefront building 
at 2944 E. Preston. The corner store entrance is set diagonally to the corner and there is a sheet 
metal cornice. Old painted lettering on the west side of the building identifies that it was once 
the Edison Hardware and Paint Co. 

Block 1526 

This block runs east ofN. Potomac Street to Ellwood Street, south of Hoffman Street and 
north of Preston. The block only contains one row of housing, at 1300-16 N. Ellwood A venue, 
built in 1941 by the Whitely Construction Co., identical to those in Block 1527 built by Whitely 
in 1940. They are more stylish than many of the similar houses in this part of the Historic 
District. Although this row has a short, false shed roof, the deep front porches are brick. End 
and center houses have porch roofs with triangular pediments supported on plain posts; the other 
porches have shed roofs. While end houses are only two bays wide (with paired first floor 
windows), center units are three bays wide. End and some center units have a false "end gable" 
set into the shed roof of the house. All houses have front lawns. 
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In the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries the northeast comer of E. Preston and 
N . Potomac Streets was the location of the United Railways Car Barn. The one-story brick 
building survives as the Fabpro Co. It extends seven bays on E. Preston Street and runs eight 
bays north on N . Potomac. Brick pilasters frame each bay and there is a stepped brick cornice. 
The building has a very low-pitched gable roof with the end gables facing Potomac Street. East 
of Decker, there is now a non-contributing modern one-story building that extends east to 
Ellwood Street. 

Block 1527 

This block runs east ofN. Ellwood Street to Edison Highway, south of Hoffman Street 
and north of Preston. The Whitely Construction Co. built the red brick, Colonial-style rows at 
1301-17 N. Ellwood Street and 1300-14 Edison Highway in 1941. These rows closely resemble 
the rows built by Whitely in Block 1510, but now most of the houses have individual brick 
porches. End and center houses have porch roofs with triangular pediments supported on plain 
posts; the other porches have shed roofs. End houses are two bays wide and center houses are 
three bays wide. The houses have terraced front lawns. 

IV. Blocks E of N. Rose Street south of E. Preston Street and north of E. Biddle Street 

Block 1538 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south of E. Preston 
Street to E. Biddle Street and is the home of St. Katherine of Sienna Roman Catholic Church, 
School, and Rectory. In 1901 local real estate 
qua rant of this block to the Archdiocese of Baltimore for the erection of a Catholic Church, 
rectory, and school. Construction began in 1902 and the church was dedicated in the fall of 
1903, only days after Grogan's untimely death at age 54. 

The rural parish design of St. Katherine's features a random ashlar stone fa9ade with 
roughcast limestone trim. The main fa9ade faces E. Preston Street, with a one-and-a-half story 
wide nave containing a central tall, stained-glass window composed of three adjoining round­
arched windows, all set beneath a wide, stone round arch. Carved stone panels separate the 
upper and lower parts of these windows. An entry tower, with tall pyramidal roof, marks the 
eastern end of the fa~ade. The slate pyramidal roof has Eastlake-style dormers on each face. 
The frieze of the tower cornice is decorated with a series of small arches springing from stepped 
bricks. Beneath a stone band rests on four stone modillions. Double, wooden entry doors are set 
beneath a round-arched transom, the whole slightly recessed from the main fa9ade and capped by 
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a wide stone arch, just like the one atop the central stained glass window. The entrance to the 
school is located on the western end of the fa9ade, with an identical wooden double door with 
round-arched transom, set beneath a wide stone arch. Above this doorway a stone circle frames 
a stained glass window, the whole set beneath a low, stone-capped triangular pediment. Around 
the comer on N. Rose Street, there is a similar one-story tall, one-bay-wide feature with a 
triangular pediment that adjoins the church's tall stone chimney. 

The two-story nave runs seven bays deep along N. Rose Street. Because of the slope of 
the ground, the lower level of the Rose Street fa9ade has full-height windows above ground to 
light the original schoolrooms. The tall church windows are set beneath stone arches and have 
stone sills. A roughcast stone stringer runs across the entire western fa9ade, set above the 
segmentally-arched stone lintels of the lower level windows. The stone cornice is supported by 
stone modillions. The southernmost bay of the western fa9ade has paired rectangular windows 
with stone lintels and sills both on the lower level and the main level of the building. A stone­
banded oculus marks the top of this bay. 

The three-story rectory, built at the same time as the church, adjoins it to the east along E. 
Preston Street. The brick building has a stone fa9ade matching that of the church that extends 
back around the comer for one bay only. The rectangular windows have "eared" stone lintels 
and stone sills and are filled with 111 lights. The main section of the rectory is three bays wide, 
with a flat roof capped by a central, low-pitched triangular pediment, all in stone. Beneath, a 
row of stone modillions set above a plain stone frieze completes the cornice design. The 
entrance to the rectory is a smaller version of the two church entryways-a wooden door set 
beneath a round-arched transom and capped by a wide stone arch. A two-bay-wide stone 
building, with flat roof and identical modillion cornice, and identical window lintels and sills, 
conneets the rectory to the church. 

At first St. Katherine's School was located in the basement of the church but by the 
1920s it had moved into its permanent home, a long four-story brick building extending south 
from the church on the east side of N. Rose Street. The lowest level is slightly below grade. The 
building consists of three five-bay-wide sections connected by slightly recessed one-bay-wide 
sections featuring prominent projecting brick entrances. Pairs of brick pilasters support a deep 
plain frieze area topped by a stone cornice with a stone-capped brick parapet above. A large 
stone cross sits atop the center of the parapet. The original double doors have been replaced by a 
metal door with upper lights. The many windows of the building have splayed brick lintels and 
stone sills. Lower level windows are filled with 111 sash while second, third, and fourth-floor 
windows have 1 /1 sash topped by a plain transom. 
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As St. Katherine's parish expanded, the members built a new, somewhat larger stone 
church on the southwest comer ofE. Preston and N. Luzerne Street in 1932. Designed in a 
traditional style to harmonize with the old church and built in similar grey stone with light 
limestone trim, the building consists of a long two-story nave intercepted by a transept near its 
southern end. The fayade on E. Preston Street has a large circular rose window framed in stone 
and with stone tracery. Two entrances are set atop wide stone steps and framed by wide stone 
pilasters-the whole now set beneath a wide, deep awning. Either end of the fayade is marked 
by stylized stone buttresses with limestone trim and the triangular stone pediment is decorated 
with a row of narrow, stylized arches. 

The nave and transepts are lit by tall arched windows, consisting of two narrow arched 
windows set beneath an oculus, the whole set in a limestone face and framed by a wide limestone 
round arch. The nave is four bays deeps, followed by a two-bay-deep transept, and then one 
more bay of the nave. A circular rose window with stone tracery marks the upper portion of the 
southern end of the nave and there is a stone-encircled oculus above each pair of windows on the 
transept facades. 

South of St. Katherine's, Grogan's heirs built a row of brown Roman brick "marble 
houses" at 1200-18 N. Luzerne Street in 1915 and very similar houses, though now with porch 
fronts, at 2512-30 E. Biddle Street. The flat-fronted houses on N. Luzerne are identical to those 
built by the Grogan estate at 1320-40 N. Luzerne and 2600-24 E. Preston Street; the porch­
fronted houses on Biddle are identical to those at 2601-23 Hoffman Street. The houses on N. 
Luzerne Street have sheet metal cornices decorated with modillions, framed by long end 
brackets, which connect to a lower molding strip. Marble is used for the basement, steps, and 
door and window lintels and sills. The wide first floor window and the door have stained l 

- ron ouses on 1 e ave the same cornice, marble lintels and sills, and 
stained glass first floor window transoms. Porches supported by full-length wooden columns 
span the full width of the houses. The steps, however, are concrete, not marble. 

Block 1539 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of E. Preston 
Street to E. Biddle Street and includes the mid-block street Mura. Almost all of the houses in 
this block were built either by Peter Grogan himself in the late 1890s, or by his heirs c. 1915. 
Grogan built the only row of three-story houses in the Historic District on the south side of E. 
Preston Street, c. 1895-98. This row at 2601-23 E. Preston Street is identical to the two-story 
row Grogan also built on the south side of E. Preston, west of N. Rose Street. The three-story, 
three-bay-wide brown Roman brick "marble houses" have sheet metal cornices decorated with a 
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row of modillions set above a row of <lentils. The cornice of each pair of houses is framed by a 
long end bracket, which connects to a lower molding strip. The facades not only have full 
marble basements and steps but marble stringers extend from the basement level to the sills of 
the first floor windows. Marble bands run across the entire fa9ade of each house at the lintel 
level of the first, second, and third floor windows. The sills are also marble. 

Around the same time Grogan erected the row of swell-front houses with corner turrets 
and square-bayed houses with upper porches and pyramidal turrets at 1221-39 N. Luzerne Street, 
identical to those on either side of N. Luzerne Street in the blocks to the north. 

In 1915 the Grogan heirs began building out the southern half of this block, with a row of 
brown Roman brick "marble houses" at 1201-19 N. Luzerne Street, identical to the row on the 
west side of Luzerne Street. Similar houses followed on both the north and south sides of mid­
block Mura Street, at 2600-24 and 2601-25 Mura Street. These houses have marble basements, 
steps, lintels and sills and sheet metal cornices. About a decade later, in 1926, the Grogan estate 
built a row of red brick Daylight houses with full width brick porches at 2600-30 E. Biddle 
Street. Wooden columns support the flat porch roofs and the steps are brick. Each house has a 
short green tile "mansard" roof set between brick parapets and above a plain frieze area. The 
wide first floor windows had paired sash and transoms. Second floor windows had double-hung 
616 sash. A row of vertical stretcher bricks extends across both windows, forming lintels. (The 
same year they would build a matching row on the south side of the 2600 block of E. Biddle 
Street.) 

Further east, at 2632-40 E. Biddle Street, the Irvington Building Co. erected a group of 
five light brown brick porch-front houses in 1938 that have sheet metal cornices above lain 

e ween nc parapets, o lowing the design of Grogan' s earlier red brick 
row at 2600-30 E. Biddle. The company built identical houses on the south side of E. Preston 
Street, at 2625-33 E. Preston. The Irvington Co. built similarly designed light brown brick 
houses, but without porches at 2626-34 and 2627-35 Mura Street. 

Block 1540 

This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of E. 
Preston Street to E. Biddle Street and includes the mid-block street Mura. The Irvington 
Building Co. between 193 7 and 1941 built all of the houses in this block. The first houses built, 
at 2700-44 E. Biddle Street are identical to the light brown brick porch-front houses built by 
Irvington at 2625-33 E. Preston and 2632-40 E. Biddle Street. The same porch-front houses 
were built in 1938 at 2701-45 E. Preston Street. The brick porches have wooden columns 
supporting flat porch roofs. The Irvington Co. built similarly designed light brown brick houses, 
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with similar cornices, but without porches, at 2700-44 and 2701-45 Mura Street in 1940 and 
1941. 

Block 1541 

This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Street, south of E. Preston 
Street to E. Biddle Street. The only houses on the block are those at 2801-15 E. Preston Street, 
built by Simon Root in 1907. The red brick houses have plain sheet metal cornices set above 
rows of stepped bricks. They have paired first floor windows set beneath segmentally-arched 
lintels. Brick porches extend the full width of the fayade and have low-pitched shed roofs. 

The rest of the south side of E. Preston Street is occupied by a very large two-story, red 
brick industrial building at 2817 E. Preston, designed by Otto Simonson for the Simpson and 
Doeller Co.in 1910. The building extends thirty-five bays wide (240') on Preston Street and 
seventeen bays deep (218') on Linwood Avenue. An imposing stone cornice supported by four 
brick pilasters with stone bases and capitals caps a five-bay-wide, taller center section. Pilasters 
that support a bracketed frieze and a projecting triangular pediment flank the center double 
entrance door. Single windows with stone sills light each bay of the central section of this 
building, while five shorter windows with stone lintels light the second floor. On either side of 
the central section, the building extends another fifteen bays, divided into five sections of three 
bays each by two-story brick pilasters. The first floor windows are short with narrow stone sills 
and a wide stone band extending across the tops of the windows the entire width of the section. 
Second floor windows are much larger, with stone sills. The roof of the building is flat with a 
stone cornice set above a deep frieze area articulated with molded brick bands. Brick parapets 
cap each three-bay-wide end section of the main fayade. This same desi n atte 

· o e m mg. n t e south elevation, each of the five three-bay-wide sections 
extending east and west of the central taller portion, is stepped down from the previous section. 
The building is of "fireproof construction, with reinforced concrete columns, girders, beams, 
rafters, purl ins, floor and ceiling and roof slabs, and brick exterior walls trimmed with stone." It 
was designed specifically to accommodate the steep grades of Kenwood A venue and Linwood 
Streets, so that much light would be admitted to the basement. 1 

Block 1542 

1 Baltimore American, November 22, 1910 
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This block runs east ofN. Linwood Street to N. Potomac Street, south of E. Preston 
Street to E. Biddle Street and includes the mid-block street Curley were built by The Donohue 
Building Co. built all of the houses in this block and the block to east in 1926-27. The houses at 
1201-41 N. Linwood Street are built in brown Roman-style brick and have attractive stone 
porches, which run the full width of the house. Wooden piers support the flat porch roofs. The 
houses have sheet metal cornices set above deep plain friezes, set between brick parapets that 
extend above the roofline, creating a staccato rhythm along the length of the row. Windows and 
doors have flat marble lintels and sills and the first floor windows are tall and paired. The 
houses originally had very short front lawns. Identical houses were built on the west side of 
Potomac Street, at 1200-40 N. Potomac Street. Along the mid-block Curley Street, houses at 
1200-40 and 1201-41 N. Curley are almost the same as those on the main streets, but the frieze 
area of the cornices has been replaced by a narrow lower molding strip. 

Block 1543 

This block runs east ofN. Potomac Street to N. Ellwood Street, south of E. Preston Street 
to E. Biddle Street and includes the mid-block street Decker. All of the houses in this block were 
built by the Donohue Building Co. in 1926-27 and exactly resemble those built on the main and 
narrow mid-block streets in Block 1542,just to the west. Street addresses include 1201-41 N. 
Potomac Street, 1200-40 N. Ellwood Street, and 1200-40 and 1201-41 N.Decker Street. 

Block 1544 

This block runs east ofN. Ellwood Street to Edison Highway, south of E. Preston Street 
to E. Biddle Street. The Donohue Buildin Co. built the lon row · 

ouses a wood Street, which exactly resemble those across the street at 1200-40 
N. Ellwood Street. The Donohue Co. also built the rows at 3101-15 E. Preston Street and 3100-
14 E. Biddle Street, which are almost identical to those built in the blocks to the west. Here, 
however, each pair of houses shares a sheet metal cornice, framed by the brick parapets that 
extend above the roofline. 

The Roland Realty Co. built the long red brick row on the west side of Edison Highway, 
at 1200-30 Edison Highway, in 1937. These Daylight-style porch-front houses are three bays 
wide and have short, singled false mansard roofs, set above a row of modillions, and framed by 
brick parapets that rise above the roofline. Doors and windows have marble lintels and sills. 
The houses have distinctive wide first floor windows composed of a center sash flanked by 
narrow sashes with wide wooden moldings between, the whole topped by a narrow transom. 
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The shed-roofed porches only extend across about a third of the facyade. Paired full-height 
narrow posts support the roofs. The houses have short front lawns. 

V. Blocks E ofN. Rose Street south of E. Biddle Street and north of E. Chase Street 

Block 1556 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south ofE. Biddle Street 
to E. Chase Street. The oldest row in the block, on the south side of E. Biddle Street, at 2523-43 
E. Biddle Street, was built by the Grogan estate in 1917 and is identical to the row built the year 
before on the north side of the 2500 block of E. Biddle Street. The porch-front houses are built 
in brown Roman brick, have sheet metal modillion cornices, marble lintels and sills, and brick 
porches with wooden columns supporting the flat porch roofs. 

The Highland Realty Co. built the remaining houses on the block, at 2500-28 E. Chase 
Street and 1100-20 N. Luzerne Street, in 1924. They resemble the brown brick porch-front 
houses built by the Donohue Home Building Co. in blocks 1542-44 with their sheet metal 
cornice sections set between brick parapets the rise above the roofline. Unlike the Donohue 
houses, which have stone porches, those built by the Highland Co. have brick porches that only 
extend across the entry bay, with every pair of houses sharing a two-bay-wide porch. Wooden 
columns support flat porch roofs and the houses have marble lintels and sills. Some houses have 
grassy plots between the projecting porches, probably an original feature. 

Block 1557 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of E. Biddle 
Street to E. Chase Street. The Grogan estate built the red brick porch-front row with green tile 
false mansard roofs at 2601-39 E. Biddle Street in 1926, the same year they built a similar row 
on the north side of the 2600 block of E. Biddle Street. On the south side of Biddle, however, 
they built houses with sun porches instead of the open porches used on the north side of the 
street. The houses are three bays wide but the glass-enclosed sun porches are only two bays 
wide. Each porch has a short green tile mansard roof matching the roof decoration of the house 
facyade. 

The Highland Realty Co. built the three other rows of houses in the block, at 1101-21 N. 
Luzerne Street, 2600-42 E. Chase Street, and 1100-20 N. Lakewood Avenue in 1924-25. All are 
identical to the brown brick porch-front rows built by Highland in the block to the west. 
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This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of E. Biddle 
Street to E. Chase Street. As in the two blocks to the west, the Grogan estate built the houses on 
the south side of Biddle Street and the Highland Realty Co. built the houses on N. Lakewood, E. 
Chase, and N. Kenwood. The Grogan-built (1926) row ofred brick porch-front houses with 
green tile mansard roofs at 2701-45 E. Biddle Street is identical to the row they built on the north 
side of the 2600 block of E. Biddle, with their open porches. 

The brown brick porch-front rows built by the Highland Realty Co. at 1101-21 N. 
Lakewood Avenue, and 1100-18 N. Kenwood Avenue in 1925-26 are identical to the houses 
built by the company in the block to the west. The houses built at 2700-42 E. Chase Street, 
however, are more stylish. Although the roofline is the same, with a sheet metal cornice section 
set between brick parapets, these houses have stone porches that extend the full width of the 
house. Wooden columns support a flat porch roof. All other details remain the same. 

Block 1559 

This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Street, south of E. Biddle 
Street to E. Chase Street. The Highland Realty Co. built the brown brick porch-front rows at 
2800-28 E. Chase Street and 1101-21 N. Kenwood Avenue in 1926. The houses built on E. 
Chase are even more stylish than those built in the 2700 block, as now, in addition to the stone 
porches, the first floor window is wider with paired sashes separated by a wide molding. 

The Whitely Realty Co. built the Jong row of brown brick porch front houses on the 
south side of Biddle Street, at 2801-35 E. Biddle Street in 1936. The houses have full-width 
brick porches with brick piers supporting the flat porch roofs. Door and window lintels and sills 
are marble and the first floor doors and windows have narrow stained glass transoms. The sheet 
metal cornice is decorated with a row of modillions set against a plain frieze and framed by end 
brackets. The steps are also marble. 

VI. Blocks E of N. Rose Street south of E. Chase Street and north of E. Eager Street 

Block 1573 

This half block runs east ofN. Rose Street to N. Luzerne Street, south of E. Chase Street 
to E. Eager Street. The row of brown brick porch-front houses on the south side of Chase Street, 
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at 2501-27 E. Chase Street, was built by the Highland Realty Co. in 1924 and is identical to the 
row on the north side of the 2500 and 2600 blocks of E. Chase. 

The row of brown brick porch-front houses at 1016-54 N. Luzerne Street was built later 
by the Roland Realty Co., who built all the houses on Beryl Street in the next two blocks east, as 
well as the row on the east side of the 1000 block ofN. Kenwood Avenue. The houses have full­
width brick porches with wqoden columns supporting the flat porch roofs. There are tall, paired 
first floor windows. All doors and windows have lintels made of vertically placed stretcher 
bricks. On Luzerne Street, the houses have sheet metal cornices decorated with modillions set 
atop a plain frieze and framed by end brackets. 

Block 1574 

This block runs east ofN. Luzerne Street to N. Lakewood Avenue, south of E. Chase 
Street to E. Eager Street. The row of brown brick porch-front houses on the south side of Chase 
Street, at 2601-43 E. Chase Street, was built by the Highland Realty Co. in 1924-25 and is 
identical to the row on the north side of the 2500 and 2600 blocks of E. Chase. One single two­
story, two-bay-wide brown brick house with sheet metal cornice can be found at 1021 N. 
Luzerne Street, just north of Beryl. 

The rows of brown brick porch-front houses at 2600-46 and 2601-4 7 Beryl Street were 
built later by the Roland Realty Co., who built all the houses on Beryl Street as well as the rows 
on the west side ofN. Luzerne and the east side of the 1000 block ofN. Kenwood Avenue. The 
houses have full-width brick porches with fluted wooden columns supporting the flat porch 
roofs. There are tall, paired first floor windows All doors and windows have lintels made of 
vertically placed stretcher bricks. The houses on Beryl Street have simpler cornices than those on 
Luzerne or Kenwood-an individual projecting sheet metal crown molding supported by small 
end brackets, with a small space left between each house. The houses have terraced lawns. 

Block 1575 

This block runs east ofN. Lakewood Avenue to N. Kenwood Avenue, south of E. Chase 
Street to E. Eager Street. As in the blocks to the west, the Highland Realty Co. built the houses 
on the south side of E. Chase Street in 1925 and the Roland Realty Co. built the rows on both 
sides of Beryl. The brown brick porch-front houses built at 2701-43 E. Chase Street are identical 
to those built by the Highland Realty Co. in 1925 on the north side of the 2 700 block of E. Chase 
Street. Although the roofline is the same as other rows built by Highland, with a sheet metal 
cornice section set between brick parapets, these houses now have stone porches that extend the 
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full width of the house. Wooden columns support a flat porch roof. All other details remain the 
same. The east end house, at 2743 E. Chase Street, has its original storefront with the entryway 
set at an angle to the street. The sheet metal cornice is supported by narrow brackets set against 
a dentilled frieze, and wraps around the comer of the building. The original double glass­
paneled doors set beneath a transom survive, as does the triangular marble stoop. The two-bay­
wide shop window facing E. Chase Street projects about a foot from the fa9ade. The three front 
transom lights and two sidelights also survive, but the lower area of the shop window has been 
covered over. 

The rows at 2700-46 and 2701-47 Beryl Street are identical to those in the 2600 block of 
Beryl except for their cornices. Here the houses have the same sheet metal cornices decorated 
with rows of modillions set against a plain frieze and framed by end brackets as the builder used 
on the houses on the west side ofN. Luzerne Street and the east side ofN. Kenwood Avenue. 
The houses have front lawns. 

Block 1576 

This block runs east ofN. Kenwood Avenue to N. Linwood Street, south of E. Chase 
Street to E. Eager Street. As in the blocks to the west the Highland Realty Co. built the houses 
on the south side of E. Chase Street and the Roland Realty Co. built the row on the east side of 
N. Kenwood Avenue. The brown brick porch-front houses built at 2801-29 E. Chase Street are 
identical to those built by the Highland Realty Co. the same year (1926) on the north side of the 
2800 block of E. Chase Street. Although the roofline is the same as other rows built by 
Highland, with a sheet metal cornice section set between brick parapets, these houses now have 
stone porches that extend the full width of the house. Wooden columns su ort a fla 

· ws ave mar e mte s an sills, and the first floor windows are paired, with 
a wooden molding in the center. All other details remain the same. The houses formerly at 2807-
13 have been tom down. 

The row of brown brick porch-front houses at 1001-39 N. Kenwood Avenue was built 
later by the Roland Realty Co., who also built all the houses on Beryl Street in the next two 
blocks east, as well as the row on the west side of the 1000 block ofN. Luzerne Street. The 
houses have full-width brick porches with wooden columns supporting the flat porch roofs. 
There are tall, paired first floor windows. All doors and windows have lintels made of vertically 
placed stretcher bricks. On Luzerne Street, the houses have sheet metal cornices decorated with 
modillions set atop a plain frieze and framed by end brackets. 
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Blocks along Federal Street E from N. Rose to Edison Highway 

Block 1486 

2504-26 Federal Street 
2507-17 Federal Street 
2516-38 Oliver Street 
1500-18 N. Luzerne Street 
1505-15 N. Rose Street 

Block 1487 

2612-40 Federal Street 
1501-3 N. Luzerne Street 
1505-23 N. Luzerne Street 
2600-44 Oliver Street 

Block 1488 

2700-28 Federal Street 
2701-23 Federal Street 
1501-9 N. Lakewood Avenue 
2700-18 Oliver Street 
2720-26 Oliver Street 
1500-34 N. Kenwood Avenue 

Block 1489 

2800-28 Federal Street 
2830-58 Federal Street 
2801-21 Federal Street 
2823-43 Federal Street 
1501-21 N. Kenwood Avenue 
1500-16 Kenhill Street 
1501-17 Kenhill Street 
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1500-16 N. Linwood Street 

Block 1490 

2900-20 Federal Street 
2901-21 Federal Street 

Block 1491 

3000-22 Federal Street 
3024-48 Federal Street 
3101-19 Federal Street 
3021-37 Federal Street 
1501-17 N. Potomac Street 
1500-16 N. Decker Street 
1501-17 N. Decker Street 
1500-16 N. Ellwood Street 

Block 1492 

3100-22 Federal Street 
3 101-7 Federal Street 
1501-17 N. Ellwood Street 
1500-28 Edison Highway 
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Blocks south of Oliver Street, E from N. Rose to Edison Highway 

Block 1505 

2521-39 Oliver Street 
1422-28 N. Luzerne Street 
1400-20 N. Luzerne Street 
2516-30 Hoffman Street 

Block 1506 

1401-7 N. Luzerne Street 
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1423-41 N. Luzerne Street 
2601-25 Oliver Street 
2627-33 Oliver Street 
1400-6 N. Lakewood A venue 
1408-14 N. Lakewood Avenue 
2600-46 Hoffman Street 
2600-26 Llewelyn Street 
2601-29 Llewelyn Street 

Block 1507 

Original Lakewood Elementary School 

Block 1508 

1401-3 1 Kenhill Street 
1400-30 N. Linwood Street 

Block 1509 

1401-31 N. Linwood Street 
1400-30 N. Potomac Street 

Block 1510 

1401-31 N. Potomac Street 
1400-30 Decker Street 
1401-31 Decker Street 
1400-30 N. Ellwood Street 

Block 1511 

1401-31 N. Ellwood Street 
1400-30 Edison Highway 
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Blocks south of Hoffman Street, E from N. Rose to Edison Highway 

Block 1521 

2517-27 Hoffman Street 
2529-31 Hoffman Street 
1300-18 N. Luzerne Street 
1320-40 N. Luzerne Street 

Block 1522 

1301-19 N. Luzerne Street 
1321-39 N. Luzerne Street 
2601-23 Hoffman Street 
2625-33 Hoffman Street 
2600-24 E. Preston Street 
2626-34 E. Preston Street 
2600-26 Grogan Street 
2601-27 Grogan Street 
2629-37 Grogan Street 

Block 1523 

1301-13 N. Lakewood Avenue 
2701-27 Hoffman Strnet 
1300-28 N. Kenwood Avenue 
2 7 00-1 8 E. Preston Street 
2720-40 E. Preston Street 

Block 1524 

1301-29 N. Kenwood Avenue 
1300-24 Kenhill Street 
1301-25 Kenhill Street 
1300-30 N. Linwood Street 
2820-40 E. Preston Street 
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Block 1525 

1301-29 N. Linwood Street 
1300-30 N. Potomac Street 
2934-42 E. Preston Street 
2944 E. Preston Street 

Block 1526 

3000 E. Preston Street 
1300-16 N. Ellwood Street 

Block 1527 

1301-17 N. Ellwood Street 
1300-14 Edison Highway 
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Blocks south of E. Preston Street, E from N. Rose to Edison Highway 

Block 1538 

St. Katherine's R.C. Church, School, and Rectory 
Greater Gethsemane Ministries Church (St. Katherine's of 1932) 
1200-18 N. Luzerne Street 
2512-30 E Biddle Street 

Block 1539 

1201-19 N. Luzerne Street 
1221-39 N. Luzerne Street 
2601-23 E. Preston Street 
2625-33 E. Preston Street 
2600-30 E. Biddle Street 
2632-40 E. Biddle Street 
2600-24 Mura Street 
2626-34 Mura Street 
2601-25 Mura Street 
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2627-35 Mura Street 

Block 1540 

2701-45 E. Preston Street 
2700-44 E. Biddle Street 
2700-44 Mura Street 
2701-45 Mura Street 

Block 1541 

2801-15 E. Preston Street 
2817 E. Preston Street 

Block 1542 

1201-41 N. Linwood Street 
1200-40 Curley Street 
1201-41 Curley Street 
1200-40 N. Potomac Street 

Block 1543 

1201-41 N. Potomac Street 
1200-40 Decker Street 
1201-41 Decker Street 
1200-40 N. Ellwood Street 

Block 1544 

1201-41 N. Ellwood Street 
3101-15 E. Preston Street 
3100-14 E. Biddle Street 
1200-30 Edison Highway 
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Blocks south of E. Biddle Street, E from N. Rose to Kenwood Avenue 

Block 1556 

2523-43 E. Biddle Street 
1100-20 N. Luzerne Street 
2500-28 E. Chase Street 

Block 1557 

1101-21 N. Luzerne Street 
2601-39 E. Biddle Street 
1100-20 N. Lakewood A venue 
2600-42 E. Chase Street 

Block 1558 

1101-21 N. Lakewood A venue 
2701-45 E. Biddle Street 
1100-18 N. Kenwood Avenue 
2700-42 E. Chase Street 

Block 1559 

1101-21 N. Kenwood Avenue 
2801-35 E. Biddle Street 
2800-28 E. Chase Street 

Blocks south of E. Chase Street, E from N. Rose to Kenwood Avenue 

Block 1573 

2501-27 E. Chase Street 
1016-54 N. Luzerne Street 
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Block 1574 

1021 N. Luzerne Street 
2601-43 E. Chase Street 
2600-46 Beryl Street 
2601-4 7 Beryl Street 

Block 1575 

2701-43 E. Chase Street 
2700-46 Beryl Street 
2701-4 7 Beryl Street 

Block 1576 

1001-39 N. Kenwood Avenue 
2801-29 E. Chase Street 
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A modern school building occupies the southwest corner of Federal Street and North Lakewood 
Avenue. 

Block 1490 

A non-contributing modern church building, the Greater Paradise Christian Center, occupies the 
northwest corner of Oliver and N. Potomac Street, at 2900 E. Oliver Street. 

Block 1507-1508 

modern Fort Worthington Elementary School 

Block 1522 

A small modern church at the southwest corner of Hoffman Street and Lakewood A venue 
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8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria 
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for 
National Register listing) 

!ZI A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad pattern of our 
history. 

D B Property associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 

!ZI C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a 
type, period, or method of construction or represents 
the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity 
whose components lack individual distinction. 

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply) 

Property is: 

!ZI A owned by a religious institution or used for religious 
purposes. 

D B removed from its original location. 

D C a birthplace or grave. 

D D a cemetery. 

D E a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

D F a commemorative property. 

D G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years. 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets) 

9. Major Bibliographical References 
Bibliography 

Baltimore City, Maryland 
County and State 

Area of Significance 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

Architecture 
Community Planning and Development 
Ethnic Heritage, European 

Period of Significance 

1885- c. 1950 

Significant Dates 

Significant Person 
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above) 

Cultural Affiliation 

Architect/Builder 

Peter Grogan, builder 
Multiple builders (see text) 

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets) 

Previous documentation on files (NPS): 

D 

D 
D 
D 
D 

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 
CFR 67) has been requested 
previously listed in the National Register 
previously determined eligible by the National Register 
designated a National Historic Landmark 
recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey 

#~~~~~~~~~~~~~-
0 recorded by Historic American Engineering Record 

# 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~-

Primary location of additional data: 

D State Historic Preservation Office 
D Other State agency 
D Federal agency 
D Local government 
D University 
D Other 

Name of repository : 
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The Berea/Biddle Street Historic District derives significance under Criterion A for its 
association with the history of immigrant groups in Baltimore City, and with historical patterns 
of residential development. Lying on the eastern edge of the city north of the old Northern 
Central Railroad Tracks and east of the Belair Road corridor, the area represents one of the last 
land pockets to be developed within the old (1851) city boundaries. Much of the land remained 
undeveloped until the period after World War I because it was the location of active brickyards. 
When significant numbers of houses began to be built in the 1920s they were designed in the 
then-popular "Daylight" style, with front porches and a two-room-wide by two-room-deep floor 
plan allowing sunlight in every room. These new homes, influenced by the suburban housing 
trends of the early twentieth century, appealed to many of the Bohemian (Czechoslovakian) 
immigrant families who had first settled along the alley streets of East Baltimore in the area 
surrounding Johns Hopkins Hospital beginning in the 1870s and 1880s. By the early 1900s and 
beyond, many of these same families were able to move northeast into more spacious and 
modern houses, usually with front porches, in a much less congested neighborhood surrounded 
by parks and expansive stretches of open land, including two major cemeteries. There were also 
many Irish and Italian newcomers, all of whom attended the Roman Catholic St. Katherine of 
Sienna Church (1903) and many of whose children went to St. Katherine's School. The citywide 
trend towards suburbanization continued in the Historic District in the 1940s, as block after 
block of Colonial Revival-style red brick rowhouses-all with small front lawns-filled the 
northeastern quadrant of the Historic District. 

The district derives additional significance under Criterion C for its collection of 
rowhouses representing the styles and types of domestic, commercial, institutional, and 
ecclesiastical a±chitecture which characterized Baltimore's neighborhoods from the late l 91

h 

century through the Post World War II era. These include houses reflecting Italianate influence; 
Renaissance Revival swellfront houses; "Marble Houses" with decorative marble lintels, sills, 
steps, and basements; houses of the Daylight and porch-front types; and postwar rowhouses of 
Colonial Revival design. 

The Period of Significance, 1885-c. 1950, begins with the initial development of housing 
in the area by Peter Grogan, and ends c. 1950, by which date the district was substantially built 
out, achieving its historic and present form and appearance. The district retains a high degree of 
integrity. 

Resource History and Historic Context: 
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The thirty-six-block area that comprises the Berea/Biddle Street Historic District is 
located in the northeast section of the old boundaries of Baltimore City, south of North Avenue 
and directly west of the city's eastern boundary line, East Avenue. Directly to the north lies the 
expansive acreage of Baltimore Cemetery. St. Alphonsus Cemetery lies in the southeastern 
section of the district. The Northern Central (now Amtrak) railroad defined the southern 
boundaries of the area. The diagonal Belair Road corridor defines the larger neighborhood of 
Northeast Baltimore, centered around Collington Square. This area began to be developed in the 
late 1880s and 1890s with blocks and blocks of stylish two-story houses, the most spacious of 
which faced Collington Square. Belair Road boasted two major breweries that offered 
employment to the primarily German residents of the area. By 1906, almost all of the blocks 
west of Milton Avenue were built up and developers were beginning to improve the Luzerne 
A venue corridor north of Biddle Street. 

Much of the land in the Historic District, south of Baltimore Cemetery to Biddle Street, 
belonged to William H. Perot, a shipping magnate who dabbled in real estate investment and 
some building activities in the 1880s, 1890s, and early 1900s, before his death in 1903. In the 
late 1880s Perot built late Italianate-style houses on the north and south sides of the 2500 block 
of Oliver Street, east of N. Rose, then a few years later erected a Classical Revival-style row, 
with sheet metal cornices and wide first-floor windows with round-arched lintels, on the north 
side of the 2600 block of Oliver Street. Perot also sold or leased lots to other builders, like 
brickmaker Daniel Donnelly who was responsible for the late Italianate-style two-story houses 
on the west side of the 1400 block ofN. Luzerne Street, built in 1887. Perot also leased land to 
Hiram Griffin, who built two-story brown brick, marble-style houses with stepped brick 
cornices, like those at 1409-41 N. Luzerne Street and 2601-25 Oliver Street in 1902, and also 
built more modest houses on the nm th side of the narrow, mid-block Llewelyn Street (all Block 
1506). Another builder, Abraham Neifeld, built out the southern portion of Block 1506 with 
two-story Classical Revival-style houses in 1907. 

The most influential developer in the area, however, was an Irish immigrant named Peter 
Grogan. In 1884 and 1885 Grogan bought three blocks of land from Perot, lying south of 
Hoffman to E. Preston Street, east ofN. Rose to N. Kenwood Avenue (Blocks 1521-23). In the 
late l 880s-early 1890s Grogan built a row of two-story houses with Queen-Anne style decorative 
brickwork, as at 1321-39 N. Luzerne Street. Then in 1894 he bought three more blocks from 
Perot, directly south of the three he already owned. Within a few years he built stylish 
Renaissance Revival-style two-story houses on the east and west sides of the 1200 and 1300 
blocks ofN. Luzerne, and a row of three-story houses on the south side of the 2600 block of E. 
Preston Street. The swell-and-square-fronted houses on Luzerne boast comer turrets, brown 
Roman brick facades with marble trim and steps, and decorative stick-style porches. The three-
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story houses have flat Roman brick facades with marble trim and steps. Around this same time 
Grogan established his family in a large house already standing at the southwest corner of 
Hoffman Street and Lakewood A venue (known as 2700 E. Preston Street), the only house in the 
block at this time. 

Knowing that a newly developing neighborhood needed its own church, in 1901 Peter 
Grogan donated land on the south side of Preston Street, west of Luzerne, to the Catholic 
Archdiocese, for both a church and a school. He was able to attend the cornerstone laying in 
1902 but died at age 61 just weeks before the new St. Katherine of Sienna church was dedicated 
in November 1903. St. Katherine's School was first located in the church basement but by the 
1920s the school occupied its own new three-story building south of the church along the east 
side ofN. Rose Street. 

Public School No. 85, later known as Lakewood Elementary School, opened in 1905-6 on 
the southeast corner of Oliver and N. Lakewood Avenue, on land sold by Perot's executor to the 
Mayor and City Council in September 1904. The distinguished three-and-a-half story H-shaped 
Colonial Revival-style red-brick building has marble trim in the form of keystoned lintels and 
sills, angle quoins, marble basement, stringers, and steps, pedimented entryways, and elaborate 
marble cartouches set just beneath the roofline on both front, rear, and side elevations. 

After Grogan's death his three sons and widow carried on the real estate business under 
the name "Estate of Peter Grogan," advertising for rent the few groups of housing already 
constructed. Then, in December 1905, they purchased for $31,000 thirteen more city blocks 
from the Perot estate, adjoining the six blocks they already owned. This purchase included the 
four blocks (1486, 1487, 1505, and 1506) that Perot had already begun to develop; those 
unimproved blocks north and south of Federal to Hoffman, from Lakewood to the city lme; and 
those blocks east of their prior holdings, running south of Hoffman to Biddle and east of 
Kenwood to the city line. 

A December 1905 Baltimore American article on the land purchase noted that the sale 
had given the "Messrs. Grogan control of about 19 city blocks" on which "about 1700 dwellings 
can be erected." The reporter noted that: 

the Messrs. Grogan said that the building of dwellings in the four blocks on the north side 
and the three blocks on the south side of Federal street will begin next spring. Federal 
street is 100 feet wide, and in a few years is expected to be one of the finest 
thoroughfares in Northeast Baltimore. Owing to its width and to the fact that a new car 
line was started on the street last Sunday, running to the extreme eastern limits, the 
Messrs. Grogan said they may erect three-story dwellings there. 
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The article went on to say that three blocks on Preston Street, near St. Katherine's 
Church, which were already owned by the estate, 

will also be improved with homes during the spring and summer. They will likely be 
three-story structures also. The estate already owns 60 dwellings in the vicinity of the 
church, which are held as an investment. 

Additionally in the fall of 1905 the city was completing "a large four-story schoolhouse 
and Lakewood avenue and Oliver street, which is in the center of the property owned by the 
estate. This will cost $90,000 and will be opened next year." The article goes on to note that: 

Mr. Peter Grogan was a pioneer in developing that part of the city, having begun the 
work about 20 years ago, when the nearest car line was on Gay street. With remarkable 
foresight he saw the possibilities which offered for residences, and he was largely 
instrumental in having the car lines, of which there are now five, extended thither. 2 

Grogan's widow and three sons soon began to promote the new neighborhood they were 
developing, headlining their advertisements "Grogan Heights-Neighborhood first class, high 
and healthy, sewer connections, no nuisances of any kind." But they only built a few rows each 
year. These were mainly brown brick two-story marble-style houses with prominent modillion 
cornices, marble lintels and sills, and marble basements and steps, like those on the west side of 
Luzerne Street south of St. Katherine's Church. In the 191 Os advertisements regularly appeared 
in Baltimore newspapers for these rental houses in Grogan Heights, which touted the high, 
healthy neighborhood, and the fine spacious houses with "fancy brick and marble fronts" and 
plenty of sunlight The three story houses on E. Preston rented for $30-$35 per month; the two-
story swell-fronts on N. Luzerne rented for $20, with the comer units costing $25.3 

The Grogan heirs also actively promoted the new neighborhood and community of 
Grogan Heights (which was also the name of their large house). In 1907 they encouraged new 
residents to form a neighborhood association that also served as an athletic club, called "The 
Hillside Club of Grogan Heights." The family provided athletic facilities like tennis courts, 
baseball fields, swings, and sandboxes on the grounds of the family home, as well as sponsoring 
several special celebrations each year, especially for the 4th of July. In 1907 the Baltimore 
American devoted a long news article, accompanied by photographs, to the amenities and 
activities of the Hillside Club, noting that there were now 60 families in the neighborhood, most 

2 Baltimore American, December 9, 1905 
3 Baltimore American, November 11, 1909 
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all of whom belonged to the club. The reporter observed that "the section of the city in which 
the Hillside Club is located is rapidly being built up. At present the building has only extended 
to the Grogan mansion, which occupies a beautiful site." The writer further noted that the club 
will probably "form the model for a number of organizations soon to be started, particularly in 
the suburban districts."4 

By about 1916 the estate was building brown brick houses with porch fronts and with 
thick modillion cornices and marble trim. These houses followed the just-becoming-popular 
Daylight-style house, with two front rooms and two back rooms, all with windows. An 
advertisement in the Baltimore American in early 1918 announced that for $1850 one could buy: 

Porch-front, six rooms (all light) houses, combination gas and electric fixtures, cemented 
cellars under entire house, fine plumbing and great heating plant; gas range in 
kitchenette, fine heating coal range in kitchen, a block from parochial school, 2 blocks 
from public school, Biddle Street Station near, churches of all kinds close by. 5 

Keeping up with changing trends, by the mid- l 920s, the Grogan heirs were building long 
rows of red-brick, Daylight-style houses, with porches and false, green tile mansard roofs, along 
the 2600 and 2700 blocks of E. Biddle Street. Those in the 2600 block had sun-porches. A 
block north, another builder erected the only Tudor-Revival-style row in the district, at 2700-18 
E. Preston Street, in the late 1930s. 

Although the Grogan estate owned the building lots on the south side of E. Biddle Street 
(purchased from the Perot executors in 1905); the land to the south (south to Eager Street 
belonged to the estate of the brickmaker and builder Daniel Donnelly. In 1924-25 the Donnelly 
heirs sold parcels on the north and south sides of the 2500-2800 blocks of E. Chase Street, and 
along both sides ofN. Luzerne, N. Lakewood, and N. Kenwood, north of Chase, to the Highland 
Home Building Co. Highland built rows of seemingly old-fashioned brown brick, porch-front 
houses on these streets. In the same period the Donohue Building Co. built similar brown brick, 
porch-front houses on land formerly owned by the Baltimore Brick Company, north of Biddle 
Street and east of Linwood, just north of St. Alphonsus Cemetery. All of Donohue' s houses and 
those built by Highland in 1925-26 have handsome stone porches. 

Despite the Grogan heirs' 1905 optimism about filling the thirteen blocks just acquired 
from the Perot estate with houses, many of them three stories, they in fact only erected about 
thirteen new rows in the Historic District in the period 1905 to 1926. Defaulting on mortgage 

4 Baltimore American, November 7, 1907 
5 Baltimore American, January 5, 1918 



NPS Form 10-900-a 
(Expires 5-31-2012) 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet 
Section _8_ Page _6_ 

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018 

B-5271 
Berea/Biddle Street Historic District 

Baltimore, Maryland 

County and State 

payments during the early years of the Depression, the Grogans lost all of their real estate 
holdings in the Historic District in a 1932 court case. The forty-eight ground rents (for houses on 
Luzerne and Preston, valued at $50,000), along with nineteen unimproved lots (valued at 
$90,000), became the property of the Mutual Life Insurance Co.6 Beginning in 1937, the 
company, now called Monumental Life Insurance, began selling these unimproved lots to other 
builders. The Whitely Realty Co. (1937-38) and the Irvington Building Co. (1938) erected 
seemingly old-fashioned brown brick, porch-front houses on scattered parcels sold to them by 
the Monumental Insurance Co. 

When residential building resumed in the Historic District in the early 1940s, and more 
vigorously after World War II, the builders active in this area (including a young Henry Knott) 
opted for the new, red brick, Colonial Revival-style Daylight house, complete with spacious 
porch and deep front lawn (sometimes terraced). This new style of rowhouse was first 
popularized in the Baltimore area by James Keelty at Edmondson Village and then Rodgers 
Forge; became the style of choice at the Roland Park Company's Original Northwood; and by 
the post World-War II building boom, was filling every suburban tract zoned for rowhouses. 
Whereas Keelty's rows in Rodgers Forge and along Edmondson Avenue were spacious, had slate 
roofs, and decidedly colonial-style doorways and trim, most of the builders at work in the 
Berea/Biddle Street Historic District chose to erect small, inexpensive versions of Colonial 
Revival-style red brick rowhouses. Few had true gable roofs, but made use rather of a short, 
shingled false gable, projecting above a fairly flat roof. Many examples have plain wooden posts 
as porch supports and flat concrete porches with low-pitched shed roofs. In some examples the 
doorways have colonial-style enframements like pilasters or engaged columns, but in other rows 
the doorways are plain. 

istrict, in the 1300 blocks ofN. Kenwood, Kenhill, and N. Linwood Street in 1941-42. His 
houses have low-pitched hip roofs and shed-roofed front porches. The Kenhill Construction Co. 
built the only Colonial Revival-style rows in the district with true gable roofs, in 1946-4 7 on the 
1400 block ofN. Linwood Street. The most prolific builder in the area in the 1940s, the Edison 
Realty Co., erected long rows on both the north and south sides of Federal Street, east of N. 
Luzerne to N. Potomac Street, and along the north-south streets south of Federal to Oliver. Their 
undistinguished houses have low-pitched shed roofs supported on posts and false gables, but they 
do sit far back from the street with deep front lawns. The homes Henry Knott built in the same 
period, on both sides of Federal Street, east of Potomac, and on Potomac, Decker, and Ellwood, 
south to Hoffman Street, are equally plain, as were those built by the Whitely Realty Co. in 194 7 
on Ellwood Street and Edison Highway, south of Oliver to Preston. The conclusion must be 

6 Baltimore City Land Records, Liber SCL 5318, folio 423 



NPS Form 10-900-a 
(Expires 5-31-2012) 

United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet 
Section _8_ Page _7_ 

OMB Approval No. 1024-0018 

B-5271 
Berea/Biddle Street Historic District 

Baltimore, Maryland 

County and State 

drawn that the builders who were filling the undeveloped lots in the Historic District after World 
War II realized they had to provide an economical product that would be affordable to those 
living in this part of Baltimore. Yet, like many of the builders of postwar housing in the Essex, 
Middle River, and Dundalk areas, they still wanted to offer rowhouses in the currently popular 
Colonial- Revival style. 

Many of the home buyers in the Historic District were the children of the first Bohemian 
families who had settled directly north of Johns Hopkins Hospital in the 1870s and 1880s. 
Although they may have grown up on narrow alley streets in four-or-six-rooms late Italianate­
style houses, now they could afford to move to a much more open area, on "high, healthy land" 
with no "alley houses or nuisances of any kind," and enjoy a deep front porch and sometimes 
even a small front lawn. Many of these Bohemian residents undoubtedly still worshipped at St. 
Wenceslaus Church and sent their children to school there, where the Czech language was still 
taught. But their domestic standard of living had definitely improved. An equal number of 
houses sold to Irish and Italian families, who worshipped at St. Katherine's. 

The district contains two historic churches, the first St. Katherine of Sienna (1902-3), 
located on the southeast comer of E. Preston and N. Rose Streets, is designed in the Romanesque 
Revival style in grey stone with lighter stone trim. By 1932 the congregation had grown to such 
an extent that the Archdiocese built a new, larger stone church to its east, on the southwest 
comer of Preston and Luzerne. Constructed of a similar stone and in a harmonious style, the 
building is now occupied by the Greater Gethsemane Ministries. 

Almost exclusively residential, the Historic District only contains two former factory 
buildings. By far the most impressive is the former Simpson-Dueller Company bmldmg that 
occupies at least a third of the block bounded by E. Preston and E. Biddle Streets, between N. 
Kenwood and N. Linwood A venues. The company manufactured printed and lithographed 
labels in the huge two-story brick Renaissance-Revival-style building designed by Otto 
Simonson and erected in 1910-11. Simonson' s drawing of the building appeared in the 
Baltimore American on November 22, 1910, accompanied by a long article explaining the 
various features of the building, and noting that Charles L. Reeder was the consulting engineer 
for the mechanical plant. 

The writer noted that "while the building is extremely long and low and the walls consist 
mostly of glass, the design is pleasing and forceful." The main entrance, entrance hall, main 
stairway and offices were to be located in the prominent central pavillion on Preston Street. The 
" large and small presses, the foundry, and the varnish department" were to occupy the main 
floor, with "light obtained from huge skylights with glass surfaces towards the north." The 
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engraving department was to go on the second floor, also with a north light. Simonson designed 
the basement "to the steep existing grades of the streets so that much light will be admitted." 
The large basement level would hold the "ink room, a storage vault for valuable plates, the 
machine shop, engine room, boiler room, fuel house, carpenter's shop, etc." and also the 
shipping department and paper storage. The building had its own power plant to generate 
electricity and steam for heating; it was also to be lighted by electricity. 7 

The Simpson-Doeller Co. played an important role in the neighborhood, providing many 
job opportunities with different skill levels. During World War I, they often advertised in the 
newspapers for female workers to replace the men serving in the military. Like many local large 
businesses, as well as churches, neighborhood associations, and political clubs, the Simpson­
Doeller Co. had its own amateur baseball team, and its own field, at the end of the Federal Street 
car line. Local newspapers regularly featured the results of the multi-weekly games held 
between these amateur teams. 

The former one-story United Railways and Electric Co. car barn survives a few blocks to 
the north, on the northeast comer of E. Preston and N. Potomac Streets. 

Architecturally, the houses built in the Berea/Biddle Street Historic District are 
representative of the transition that took place in rowhouse building at the end of the nineteenth 
century into the first decades of the twentieth century-changes that closely reflected nationwide 
trends towards suburbanization. The first rowhouses built in the district (along its western edge 
in the period between about 1886 and 1910), show the stylistic influences of the late Italianate, 
Queen Anne, and Renaissance Revival styles. But beginning around 1914, builders added front 
porches and often short front lawns to give their houses the appeal of suburbia. These houses 
were also wider and shal]ower, to allow sunlight into every room. Then, when residential 
building resumed in the early 1940s, builders offered homes in the newly popular red-brick 
Colonial Revival style. Initially patterned after the eighteenth-century houses being 
reconstructed in Colonial Williamsburg-with their gable roofs and multi-paned windows, 
"Early American"-style houses had become the design of choice for homes in Baltimore's elite 
residential suburbs. It did not take rowhouse builders long to adapt the style to the modest 
rowhouse form and to find ways to make an even more affordable product, like imitating the 
effect of a true gable roof with a short, false mansard set in front of (and hiding) an almost flat 
roof. 

7 Baltimore American, November 22, 1910 
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Beginning along the east side ofN. Luzerne Street, at the southwest comer of the Baltimore 
Cemetery, and extending along the southern boundary of the cemetery east to Edison Highway; 
the south along Edison Highway to the north side of E. Chase Street; then west along E. Chase 
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1. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0001. tif 
1500-18 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1486) James C. Byrne, 1929 
East elevation 

2. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0002 . tif 
2520-38 Oliver Street (Block 1486) William H. Perot, 1893 
South elevation 

3. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0003 .tif 
2612-40 Federal Street (Block 1487) Edison Realty Co., 1946 
South elevation 

----~4~M-"+bD~BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleS treetHD _ 0004. tif 
2600-44 Oliver Street (Block 1487) William H. Perot, 1903 
South elevation 

5. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0005. tif 
2700-18 Oliver Street (Block 1488) Grogan estate, c. 1914 
South elevation 

6. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0006.tif 
2823-43 Federal Street (Block 1489) Edison Realty Co ., 1947 
North elevation 
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7. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleS treetHD _ 0007. tif 
1500-16 N. Linwood Street (Block 1489) Kenhill Construction Co., 1947 
East elevation 

8. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0008.tif 
1500-28 Edison Highway (Block 1492) Henry Knott, 1946 
East elevation 

9. MD_ Bal timoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0009. tif 
1400-20 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1505) Daniel Donnelly, 1887 
East elevation 

10. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _001 O.tif 
1423-41 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1506) Hiram J. Griffin, 1902 
North elevation 

11. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0011.tif 
2600-46 Hoffman Street (Block 1506) Abraham Neifeld, 1907 
South elevation 

12. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0012.tif 
2600-26 Llewelyn Street (Block 1506) Hiram K. Griffin, 1902 
South elevation 

13. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _OU 13. t1f 
Lakewood Elementary School (Block 1541) 

14. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0014.tif 
1400-30 N. Ellwood Street (Block 1510) Whitely Realty Co., 1947 
East elevation 

15. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0015. tif 
1301-19 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1522) Peter Grogan c. 1895 
West elevation 
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16. MD _BaltimoreCity_Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0016.tif 
1327-33 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1522) Peter Grogan, c. 1888-90 
West elevation 

1 7. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0017. tif 
2600-10 E. Preston Street (Block 1522) Grogan estate, c. 1910-14 
South elevation 

18 . MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0018.tif 
2700-18 E. Preston Street (Block 1523) Consolidated Building Co., 1937 
South elevation 

19. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0019 .tif 
1300-30 N. Linwood Street (Block 1524) Ephraim Macht, 1941 
East elevation 

20. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0020.tif 
St. Katherine of Sienna Church and Rectory, 1902-3 (Block 1538) 
North elevation 

21 . MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0021.tif 
St. Katherine of Sienna Church, 1932 (Block 1538) 
North and east elevations 

22 MD_BaltimoreCity_Be1c:a/BiddleSrreetHD 0022.tif 
St. Katherine of Sienna School (Block 1538) 
W e'st elevation 

23. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0023.tif 
1200-18 N. Luzerne Street (Block 1538) Grogan estate, 1915 
East and south elevations 

24. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0024. tif 
2601-23 E. ~reston Street (Block 1539) Peter Grogan, c. 1895 
North elevation 
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25. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0025. tif 
2701-45 E. Preston Street (Block 1540) Irvington Building Co., 1938 
North elevation 

26. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0026. tif 
2817 E. Preston Street (Block 1541) Simpson & Doeller Co., 1909-12 
North elevation 

2 7. MD_ Bal timoreCity _ Berea/B iddleStreetHD _ 002 7. tif 
1201-41 N. Linwood Street (Block 1542) Donohue Home Building Co., 1926 

28. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0028. tif 
1200-30 Edison Highway (Block 1544) Roland Realty Co, 1937 
East elevation 

29. MD_ BaltimoreCity _ Berea/BiddleStreetHD _ 0029. tif 
2500-28 E. Chase Street (Block 1556) Highland Home Building Co., 1924 
South elevation 

30. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0030.tif 
2701-45 E. Biddle Street (and 2601-39, far right) (Block 1558; 1557) Grogan estate, 1926 
North elevation 

31. MD BaltimoreCity Berea/BiddleStreetHD 0031.tif 
2806-14 E. Chase Street (Block 1559) Highland Home Building Co., 1926 
South elevation 

32. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0032.tif 
2600-46 Beryl Street (Block 1574) Roland Realty Co., 1940 
South elevation 

33. MD _BaltimoreCity _Berea/BiddleStreetHD _0033.tif 
1001-39 N. Kenwood Avenue (Block 1576) Roland Realty Co., 1941 
West elevation 
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